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*  *  * 
Four great gates has the city of Damascus 

And four Great Wardens, on their spears reclining, 
All day long stand like tall stone men 

And sleep on the towers when the moon is shining. . . 1/ 
 
 
 



STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 
 
 Whether Respondent engaged in a discriminatory housing 

practice in violation of the Florida Fair Housing Act, as 

amended, sections 760.20 through 760.37, Florida Statutes 

(2012)2/.  Also at issue is whether Respondent retaliated against 

Petitioners for filing a complaint of discrimination. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 The Florida Commission on Human Relations ("Commission") is 

a state agency charged with investigating complaints of housing 

discrimination filed pursuant to the Florida Fair Housing Act.  

§§ 760.22 - 760.37, Fla. Stat.   

 On November 29, 2010, Petitioners Ela M. Lugo and Maria 

Martinez filed a complaint with the Commission –- dual-filed 

with the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development -- 

alleging Respondent, Mark Haynes, Developer, discriminated 

against them on the basis of handicap in violation of section 

760.23(8), Florida Statutes, and section 804(f)(3)(A) of the 

Federal Fair Housing Act of 1988.  42 U.S.C. § 3604.  

 An investigation of the complaint was made by the 

Commission.  On February 3, 2011, the Commission issued its 

determination that reasonable cause did not exist to believe a 

discriminatory housing practice had occurred in violation of 

section 760.23(8).   
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 Dissatisfied with the Commission's determination, 

Petitioners filed a Petition for Relief with the Commission on 

February 28, 2011.  On March 2, 2011, the case was referred to 

the Division of Administrative Hearings ("DOAH") and assigned to 

the undersigned administrative law judge to conduct a formal 

hearing on the matter.  On March 22, 2011, a Notice of Hearing 

was issued setting the final hearing for May 6, 2011, in New 

Smyrna Beach, Florida.  However, at the request of the parties 

the final hearing was continued twice and placed in abeyance 

while the parties attempted, unsuccessfully, to settle the 

matter. 

 Ultimately, the final hearing was conducted the week of 

July 30, 2012, at which time Petitioner Lugo testified on her own 

behalf.  In addition, Petitioners called as witnesses Mark Arman, 

Diane Young, Ricky Schrader, Jerry Schrader, Ronald Lester, 

Maxine Lester, Morgan Campbell, and Patrick Larrazabal, M.D.  

Petitioners offered in evidence 38 exhibits.  Respondent 

testified on his own behalf and also called as witnesses Debra 

Smith, Bradley Jones, Juliet de Bernardis and Thomas Clark. 

Respondent offered five exhibits in evidence. 

 At the conclusion of the final hearing, the parties 

stipulated that proposed recommended orders would be filed 

within 30 days of the filing of the seven-volume official 

transcript with the Division, which occurred on September 10, 
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2012.  Thereafter the parties filed two separate requests for 

extensions of time to file proposed recommended orders, and 

those requests were granted.  On November 6, 2012, Petitioners 

and Respondent timely filed Proposed Recommended Orders, both of 

which have been carefully considered by the undersigned. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 
 

 Based on the testimony and documentary evidence presented 

at hearing, the demeanor and credibility of the witnesses, and 

on the entire record of this proceeding, the following findings 

of fact are made: 

Background 

 1.  On May 7, 2004, Respondent, Mark Haynes (Haynes), sold 

a home site, located at 695 Magda Lane, Oak Hill, Florida, 

(subject property), within the Highlander Airpark, to Petitioner 

Ela Lugo (Lugo) and her husband, Michael Arman (Arman).  Lugo 

and Arman subsequently built a home on the site and took up 

residence there in late December 2009, along with Lugo's mother, 

Petitioner Maria Martinez (Martinez). 

 2.  Contemporaneously with the sale, Haynes executed and 

delivered to Arman, "a married man," a warranty deed that 

provided for six (6) non-exclusive easements providing ingress 

and egress to the subject property and the nearby airport runway 

owned by Haynes.  The deed makes no mention of Haynes reserving 

the right to erect gates to control the flow of pedestrians or 
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vehicles traversing the easements, nor was any other document 

offered in evidence addressing the issue. 

 3.  The easements allow for access to the subject property 

by two routes.  The first route (ingress/egress #1) allows 

access from Ariel Road from the north to Ames Haven Road to Pit 

Bull Road to Magda Lane to the subject property.  The second 

route (ingress/egress #2) allows access from the south across 

Brooks Circle to Highlander Drive to Pit Bull Road to Magda Lane 

to the subject property.3/ 

 4.  The easements that allow ingress and egress from the 

subject property are privileges of the sale of the subject 

property by Haynes to Arman and Lugo.  Lugo is a buyer, a person 

residing in the subject property and a person associated with 

Arman, also a buyer of the subject property.  Petitioner 

Martinez is also a person residing in the subject property and a 

person associated with the buyers: Arman is her son-in-law and 

Lugo is her daughter. 

Physical Condition of Petitioners 
 
 5.  The deterioration of Lugo's physical condition began 

with a serious auto accident in 2002, which left her with disk 

bulges in the lower lumbar region along with severe facet 

arthrosis.  Since that time, her condition has been exacerbated 

by the osteoarthritis and knee degeneration described below. 
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 6.  At all times material Lugo had and continues to have 

physical impairments, including osteoarthritis in her left hip.  

In addition, due to the severe degeneration involved in Lugo's 

right knee, her chiropractor has recommended knee replacement 

surgery.  Lugo's impairments interfere with the major life 

activities of daily living at 46 percent.  She has difficulty 

lifting, walking without a cane or crutch, sitting for more than 

one hour, and, when standing for more than one hour experiences 

severe pain.  She cannot climb stairs, is not able to do normal 

housework, and is unable to exercise.  She is unable to grip and 

pull, and gross manipulation is extremely difficult because of 

the lack of strength in her hands. 

 7.  Lugo used and continues to use a hand crutch (also 

known as a Canadian forearm crutch) to relieve her of pain from 

her medical condition and to assist her in ambulating.  At all 

times material, Lugo used her crutch on a continual basis.  

There was testimony that she had been seen at times not using 

the hand crutch; however, this is not a significant fact in that 

with her affliction pain can wane, or come on full strength.  In 

other words, she has good days and bad days.  

 8.  Petitioner Lugo was able to walk a few steps without 

using the crutch but in recent years walking has become 

increasingly painful and slowed her down to the point that the 

crutch was frequently needed to assist in ambulation.  In the 
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rare times she was not using a hand crutch, Lugo was near a 

surface or object that she could hold onto, if needed.  There 

are times when Lugo is able to walk without the hand crutch and 

other times when she is unable because of the pain involved.  

Lugo is unable to ambulate through a ditch, lift heavy cables, 

open a heavy door, and bend repetitively without pain.  She is 

unable to squat without pain.  

 9.  The unrebutted evidence of record credibly established 

that Petitioner Lugo meets the definition of a handicapped 

person since she has physical impairments which substantially 

limit one or more major life activities. 

 10.  Petitioner Martinez has mental and physical 

impairments, including degenerative disk disease, generalized 

debility and moderate dementia.  Martinez's mental and physical 

impairments caused and continue to cause her to be substantially 

limited in the major life activities of reasoning, daily living, 

being able to ambulate, standing and walking.  

 11.  Martinez was and continues to be unable to operate a 

gate because the task required is more complex than she could 

perform due to her mental limitations.  While she is able to 

walk, she requires assistance from someone when she does so.  At 

all times material Martinez required constant supervision 

because she gets disoriented and anxious.  This constant 

supervision was usually provided by Lugo or by Arman.  At times, 
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Martinez was present at the hearing and what the undersigned 

observed about her was consistent with the testimony and other 

evidence offered about her physical and mental impairments. 

 12.  Martinez' mental impairments, including the inability 

to perform complex tasks, would make it unlikely that she could 

safely operate a motor vehicle.  Nor was any evidence presented 

that Martinez operated a motor vehicle during the relevant time 

period. 

 13.  The unrebutted evidence of record credibly established 

that Petitioner Martinez meets the definition of a handicapped 

person since she has physical and mental impairments which 

substantially limit one or more major life activities. 

The Gates 

 14.  There are two gates that the Petitioners must travel 

through when driving a vehicle through ingress/egress #1 to 

access the subject property.  The first gate (Gate 1) is located 

at the beginning of ingress/egress #1 at Ariel Road.  All 

parties are in agreement that Gate 1 was neither constructed nor 

maintained by Haynes, nor was it the responsibility of Haynes to 

maintain Gate 1.4/ 

 15.  Gate 2 is located on Pit Bull Road on Haynes' property 

and was constructed by Haynes in October 2009.  Gate 2 consists 

of four telephone pole-type posts sunk in the ground.  A large 

and heavy fenced gate hangs hinged between the two interior 
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posts so as to restrict ingress and egress of automobiles, (cars 

and trucks).  On each side of the fenced gate are intentional 

openings that also restrict ingress and egress of automobiles; 

but not other forms of transportation (i.e. pedestrians, horses, 

motorcycles, all-terrain vehicles).  Lugo's car is unable to 

travel through Gate 2 when it is shut and locked. 

 16.  When shut and locked, in order to ingress and egress 

the subject property through Gate 2, drivers are required to get 

out of their automobile, unlock the gate, drive their automobile 

through it, get back out of their automobile, shut the gate and 

relock the gate.  Haynes acknowledged that the process of 

traveling through Gate 2 would be cumbersome to somebody who was 

handicapped. 

 17.  The tasks required of Lugo to ingress and egress Gate 

2 are difficult, if not impossible, due to her physical 

condition and limitations.  Lugo's husband, Arman, was often 

required to assist Lugo in opening Gate 2.5/ 

 18.  Haynes demanded that Arman and Lugo and other property 

owners in the area keep Gate 2 shut and locked.  Haynes himself 

shut and locked Gate 2.  As such, Gate 2 was often closed and 

locked, causing Petitioners' ingress and egress to be 

obstructed. 

 19.  When accessing their home through ingress/egress #2, 

Petitioners must also travel through two gates.  The first gate 
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(Gate 4) is located at the beginning of ingress/egress #2 at 

Brooks Circle.  Gate 4 is located on Brook's Circle on Haynes' 

property and was constructed by Haynes.  Most similar to Gate 2, 

Gate 4 was also constructed of four telephone pole-type posts.  

A large and heavy fenced gate hangs hinged between the two 

interior posts so as to obstruct passage by automobiles when 

closed.  As with Gate 2, on either side of the fenced gate are 

intentional openings not large enough for automobiles to pass, 

but sufficiently large to permit passage by other forms of 

transportation (i.e. pedestrians, horses, motorcycles, all-

terrain vehicles). 

 20.  As with Gate 2, in order to ingress and egress the 

subject property through Gate 4 when shut and locked a person 

would be required to get out of their automobile, unlock the 

gate, drive their automobile through it, get back out of their 

automobile, shut the gate and relock the gate.  The process of 

traveling through Gate 4 is cumbersome, even for somebody who is 

not handicapped.  Haynes instructed Petitioners that Gate 4 was 

to remain closed and locked. 

 21.  The tasks required of Petitioners to ingress and 

egress Gate 4 are difficult, if not impossible, due to the 

limitations of their handicaps.  

 22.  The second gate that the Petitioners would need to 

travel through when using a car or truck was Gate 3.  
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Constructed by Haynes on his property in March or April 2010, 

Gate 3 consists of a heavy cable which is drawn across the 

easement between two posts.  Traveling through Gate 3 would 

require a person to get out of their automobile, squat or bend 

and walk along uneven ground including a ditch, lift up the 

cable, get back into their automobile, drive through, get back 

out of their vehicle, squat or bend to pick back up the heavy 

cable, attach the cable and secure the lock back to the post.  

These are tasks that Petitioners are not able to perform due to 

their handicaps. 

 23.  The presence of locked Gates 2 through 4 also caused 

Petitioners to have legitimate concern for their safety, since 

the gates prevented public safety vehicles (fire, police and 

ambulance) from reaching Petitioners during emergencies, 

including three fires.  In the event of future emergencies the 

locked gates would prevent public safety vehicles from entering 

the property quickly because the keys to the property are held 

by one agency at the agency's office.  First responders would 

have to wait until the keys arrived prior to entering the 

property.  Further, if at home during a fire, Petitioners would 

have difficulty independently escaping from the property. 

Respondent's Knowledge of Petitioners' Condition 

 24.  On September 24, 2010, Haynes' then-attorney, Scott 

Chichon, received a letter from Lugo's attorney, Sherry Cole 
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Jarvis, via facsimile.  The letter provided notice to Haynes 

that Lugo was disabled, and specifically requested the 

accommodation that the inner gates along the access road be left 

opened and unlocked.  The full text of that letter follows: 

RE:  Arman/Lugo vs. Haynes 
 
Dear Mr. Cichon: 
 
My client has been released from the 
hospital after having hip replacement 
surgery.  As a result of the surgery and her 
other conditions, Ms. Lugo is disabled.  
Additionally, nursing and physical therapy 
providers will be coming to the property to 
provide services to Ms. Lugo. 
 
We request that your client leave the inner 
gates along the access road from Ariel Road 
open and unlocked.  The outer gate is secure 
with the coded access system.  There is no 
need for interior gates to be locked.   
Ms. Lugo cannot meet her medical providers 
along the road to open the interior gates 
for them to obtain access to the property, 
and their medical services are necessary. 
 
If you have any questions or require further 
information, please contact this office. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
S
 
herry Cote’-Jarvis 

 25.  At hearing, Haynes testified that he had first seen 

the letter from Attorney Jarvis in September or October 2010, 

well prior to November 29, 2010, the date Petitioners filed the 

complaint at issue herein.  In his pre-hearing deposition 

(Petitioners' Ex. Z-21), Haynes acknowledged that he knew that 
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the Jarvis letter placed him on notice that Lugo was disabled; 

however, Haynes was of the opinion that Lugo was lying, and in 

fact was not disabled. 

 26.  In addition to receiving written notification of 

Lugo's disability, Haynes testified that he had personally 

observed Lugo using her crutch during the summer of 2010, again 

well in advance of the complaint being filed.  At hearing, 

Haynes conceded that Lugo's use of the hand crutch provided him 

with a reasonable suspicion that Lugo was handicapped. 

 27.  Other witnesses testified that Haynes had observed 

Lugo using a crutch as early as 2009.  Petitioner Lugo testified 

that in late March or early April 2010, she and Haynes were 

standing within three-to-five feet of each other at which time 

Lugo was using her hand crutch.  This testimony was corroborated 

by Diane Young, the former Chief of Police for Oak Hill, 

Florida.  Ms. Young further testified about another incident in 

which Lugo and Haynes were face-to-face while Lugo was using the 

crutch.  This second face-to-face incident occurred in September 

2009. 

 28.  Given the above testimony, which is credible, the 

undersigned finds that Haynes did observe Lugo using her hand 

crutch at least as early as September 2009, more than a year 

prior to Petitioners' filing their complaint.  As such, and 

based upon Haynes admission that Lugo's use of the hand crutch 
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provided him with a reasonable suspicion that she was disabled, 

the undersigned finds that Haynes was aware of Lugo's disability 

prior to the filing of the complaint. 

 29.  The credible evidence of record established that 

Haynes had sufficient notice that Petitioners were handicapped 

prior to their filing the complaint, yet he refused to provide 

the requested accommodation of leaving Gates 2 through 4 

unlocked and open. 

 30.  Haynes’ stated reason for erecting, closing and 

locking Gates 2 through 4 was to provide security for the 

airport.6/  However, Gates 2 through 4 only restrict automobiles 

from traveling through the gates.  Gates 2 through 4 do not 

prevent persons from entering the airport property by other 

means.  Respondent's witness, Debra Smith, testified that for 

about four years she lived approximately 1/4 mile from the 

airport and daily walked her dog on the airport property as she 

was able to access the property as a pedestrian by going around 

the gate.  

 31.  Another of Respondent's witnesses, Bradley Jones, 

testified that there is no fence on both sides of Gate 4 and 

that access could be gained to the airport property by foot, or 

on a motorcycle, ATV or four-wheel drive truck without passing 

through Gate 4.  Mr. Jones also testified that Gate 3 would not 

prevent access to the airport property. 
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 32.  Gates 2 through 4 provide no substantial security 

improvement to the property since vandals or thieves can still 

gain access to the property notwithstanding the presence of the 

three gates. 

 33.  From the time of the purchase of the subject property 

until shortly after the erection of Gate 3, the road by which 

persons could travel through ingress/egress #1 was impassible.  

After Gate 3 was constructed, closed and locked by Respondent, 

Arman and Lugo were forced to pay for significant road 

improvements to have ingress/egress #1 made passable.  Those 

expenses were: $200.00 for tractor work, $560.00 for machine 

time, and $280.00 for road shell.  The total cost of making 

Ingress #1 passable was $1,040.00. 

 34.  Due to Haynes' obstruction of the easements by Gates 3 

and 4, Lugo was prevented from traveling through ingress/egress 

#2 when she traveled daily to the post office.  Instead, she was 

forced to travel through ingress/egress #1 at a further distance 

of 1.2 miles roundtrip six days a week beginning in April 2010. 

This is an expense Lugo would not have normally had to incur if 

she had been able to travel unobstructed through ingress/egress 

#2. 

     35.  There was conflicting testimony presented by 

Petitioner Lugo and Respondent as to the status of Gates 3 and 4 

from the period of April 2010 to the date of hearing.  Lugo 
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testified that Gates 3 and 4 were still closed as of the 

hearing, while Haynes testified that Gates 3 and 4 were opened 

and left unlocked shortly after he received Petitioners’ 

complaint.  The testimony of Lugo is more credible, and it is 

found that Gates 3 and 4 were closed and locked, necessitating 

Lugo’s use of ingress/egress #1 to travel to the post office, 

from the period April 2010 through August 3, 2012.  This 

constitutes 732 days (122 weeks x 6) of travel at an additional 

1.2 miles per day, for a total of 878 additional miles traveled 

by Lugo because of the closure of Gates 3 and 4.  Using the 

standard mileage rate of $0.55 per mile allowed by the federal 

government on federal tax returns,7/ the cost of the additional 

travel to Lugo was $482.90. 

The Retaliation Claim 

 36.  On or about January 13, 2011, Haynes filed a complaint 

with the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (D.E.P.) 

against the subject property alleging "unauthorized filling 

activities within wetlands."  At hearing, Haynes denied 

initiating the complaint against Petitioners, notwithstanding 

the fact that on the face of the "Complaint Inspection" it 

clearly states that Haynes was the "Complainant" and the report 

includes Haynes address and phone number.  Haynes denial that he 

lodged the complaint against Petitioners is not credible. 

 16



 37.  On April 18, 2011, D.E.P. found that "there [were] no 

grounds for opening an enforcement case" after performing a site 

visit on April 7, 2011. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

38.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties and subject matter pursuant to 

sections 120.569 and 120.57, Florida Statutes (2012).  

39.  42 U.S.C. section 3604(f)(2), provides that the 

following constitutes housing discrimination within the meaning 

of the Federal Act: 

(2)  To discriminate against any person in 
the terms, conditions, or privileges of sale 
or rental of a dwelling, or in the provision 
of services or facilities in connection with 
such dwelling, because of a handicap of—  
 
(A)  that person; or  
 
(B)  a person residing in or intending to 
reside in that dwelling after it is so sold, 
ented, or made available; or  r
 
(C)  any person associated with that person.  

 
40.  Likewise, the Florida Fair Housing Act (FHA), codified 

in sections 760.20 through 760.37 provides, in pertinent part, 

that: 

(8) It is unlawful to discriminate against 
any person in the terms, conditions, or 
privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling, 
or in the provision of services or 
facilities in connection with such dwelling, 
because of a handicap of:  
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(a) That buyer or renter; 
 
(b) A person residing in or intending to 
reside in that dwelling after it is sold, 
rented, or made available; or 
 
(c) Any person associated with the buyer or 
renter.   
 
§ 760.23(8), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added) 
 

 41.  42 U.S.C. section 3602(h) provides, in pertinent part, 

the following definition of the term "handicap" for purposes of 

the Federal Act: 

(h)  "Handicap" means, with respect to a 
person— 
 
(1)  a physical or mental impairment which 
substantially limits one or more of such 
person's major life activities,  
 
(2)  a record of having such an impairment, 
or  
 
(3)  being regarded as having such an 
impairment . . . 
 

 42.  "Handicap" is defined in the Florida Act in section 

760.22(7)(a), as follows:  

(7) "Handicap" means:  
 
(a)  A person has a physical or mental 
impairment which substantially limits one or 
more major life activities, or he or she has 
a record of having, or is regarded as 
having, such physical or mental impairment; 

 
 43.  The federal Fair Housing Act is "a broad remedial 

statute," therefore, its provisions are to be generously 

construed and "its exemptions must be read narrowly."  City of 
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Edmonds v. Washington State Bldg. Code Council, 18 F.3d 802, 804 

(9th Cir. 1994), aff'd, 514 U.S. 725, 115 S. Ct. 1776, 131 L. 

Ed. 2d 801 (1995).  See Massaro v. Mainlands Section 1 & 2 Civic 

Ass'n, Inc., 3 F.3d 1472, 1475 (1lth Cir. 1993) ("Exemptions 

from the Fair Housing Act are to be construed narrowly, in 

recognition of the important goal of preventing housing 

discrimination.").  In enacting the Florida Fair Housing Act, 

the legislature "essentially codified" the U.S. Fair Housing 

Amendments Act of 1988, 42 U.S.C. et seq. Dornbach v. Holley, 

854 So. 2d 211, 213 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002).  Because the provisions 

of the Florida Act are virtually identical to those provisions 

of the Federal Act, federal case authority is persuasive in 

interpreting Florida's statute. 

 44.  Petitioners bear the initial burden of proof to 

establish a prima facie case of discrimination by a 

preponderance of the evidence.  In evaluating housing 

discrimination claims, courts have applied the burden-shifting 

analysis developed in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v Green, 411 U.S. 

792, 802-804 (1973), and later refined in Texas Dep’t of Cmty. 

Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 252-253 (1981).  Following 

this approach, Petitioners must make a prima facie case for 

discrimination.   

 45.  Petitioners may prove discrimination through any 

combination of direct and indirect evidence, including 

 19



statistical evidence.  However, if they establish a prima facie 

case of discrimination and Respondents produce any evidence of a 

legitimate business purpose, Petitioners must prove that the 

real reason for the complained-of action is discrimination.  It 

is not enough to show that the legitimate business purpose is a 

pretext.  St. Mary's Honor Center v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 113 S. 

Ct. 2742 (1993).  In other words, Petitioners at all times 

retain the burden of proving that Respondent discriminated 

against Petitioners. 

46.  In order to prevail in their claim of discrimination, 

Petitioners must prove (1) that they are handicapped as defined 

in the Florida FHA; (2) that Respondent knew or reasonably 

should have known of Petitioners' handicaps; (3) that 

Petitioners requested a reasonable accommodation to afford them 

an equal opportunity to use and enjoy the subject property; and 

(4) that Respondent refused to provide the reasonable 

accommodation.  See U.S. v. California Mobile Home Park Mgmt. 

Co., 107 F.3d 1374, 1380 (9th Cir. 1997).  Petitioners' burden is 

to prove all four prongs of this analysis by a preponderance of 

the evidence. 

47.  Whether Petitioners suffer from a “handicap” must be 

decided utilizing the definition of section 760.22(7)(a), 

Florida Statutes.  Because of the similarity of definitions, 

federal law is used for guidance in evaluating the merits of 
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claims arising under the Florida FHA.  In determining whether 

Petitioners have physical or mental impairments “which 

substantially limits one or more of major life activities," it 

is appropriate to utilize the following definition found in 42 

U.S.C. § 12102, which is part of the Americans with Disabilities 

Act: 

(2)  Major life activities.  
 

(A)  In general.  For purposes of paragraph 
(1), major life activities include, but are 
not limited to, caring for oneself, 
performing manual tasks, seeing, hearing, 
eating, sleeping, walking, standing, 
lifting, bending, speaking, breathing, 
learning, reading, concentrating, thinking, 
communicating, and working. 

 
48.  Petitioners established that they are handicapped 

persons within the meaning of section 760.23, Florida Statutes.  

Both petitioners suffer from physical disabilities that 

interfere with the major life activities of walking, standing, 

lifting, and bending.  In addition, Petitioner Martinez suffers 

from dementia, a mental impairment that interferes with the 

major life activities of learning, reading, concentrating, 

thinking, communicating, and working. 

49.  The easements that allow ingress and egress from the 

subject property are privileges of the sale of the subject 

property by Haynes to Arman and Lugo.  By obstructing the 
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easements with Gates 2 through 4, Haynes has denied the 

privileges of the sale of the subject property to Petitioners. 

 50.  Since the warranty deed does not address the issue, 

whether a gate may be erected depends upon whether the gate 

would unreasonably interfere with the easement holder's right of 

passage.  See BHB Development v. Bonefish Yacht Club Homeowners 

Association, 691 So. 2d 1174 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997).  In that case 

the developer installed a locked gate across an easement.  The 

easement agreement there, like here, did not specifically 

address whether the developer could obstruct the easement by 

gate.  The homeowner's association sued the developer to remove 

the gate contending that the gate was inconvenient because it 

required guests and lessees to carry a key to enter or exit the 

easement and exit their vehicle to unlock and open the gate, and 

then, after passing the gate, to exit the vehicle again to close 

and relock the gate.  In affirming the trial court's order to 

remove the gate, the court held that the gate constituted "a 

substantial and impermissible interference" with the rights of 

the easement holders to use the easement. 

 51.  A similar application of the law upheld the 

installation of a gate in Sandlake Residences, LLC v. Ogilive, 

951 So. 2d 117 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007).  There Ogilive held a non-

exclusive perpetual easement across Sandlake's property to 

Turkey Lake Road under a written agreement.  The agreement 
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provided for an electronic rear gate where the Ogilive property 

met Sandlake property.  Sandlake installed a second "front gate" 

where their property intersected Turkey Lake Road.  They gave 

the Ogilives several means to pass through the front gate, 

including (1) a single button remote control, (2) a personal 

access code to enter on the gate's key pad, (3) by calling 

Sandlake's office during office hours, and (4) by calling their 

own cell phone and "buzzing" themselves in.  If the Ogilives 

wanted to admit guests or delivery persons, they could either 

provide their personal access code or have that person call from 

the gate and buzz them in.  Despite the existence of the first 

gate and the many alternative means of opening the second gate, 

the Ogilives sued to have the front gate removed and the trial 

court agreed.  In reversing the trial court, the district court 

found that while the easement agreement specifically permitted 

the rear gate, it did not specifically provide for or 

specifically prohibit the second or front gate.  Accordingly, 

the court's analysis focused on whether the gate unreasonably 

interfered with the rights of the easement holders to use the 

easement.  In remanding the case back to the trial court on that 

issue, the district court observed that the gate could be opened 

"from a distance by remote opening, a cell phone, a call to the 

Association’s office, or a drive up access code" and this 

additional gate would not materially increase the burden of 
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admitting guests and other invitees.  Id. at 121.  Importantly, 

the district court specifically noted that the minor 

inconvenience of the second electronic gate in Sandlake was 

"unlike a padlocked gate, which requires persons to exit their 

vehicles, unlock the padlock, manually open the gate, manually 

open the gate, drive through the gate, again exit the vehicle 

and close and lock the gate."  Id. at 122. 

 52.  Here, the level of obstruction and inconvenience to 

the easement holders more closely approaches that in BHB 

Development than Sandlake.  Here Gates 2, 3 and 4 are locked and 

totally obstruct the Plaintiff's use of the easements, including 

ingress/egress #1 and ingress/egress #2.  The locked gates and 

cable completely obstruct Petitioners' use of Pit Bull Road, 

Highlander Drive and Brooks Circle and deny them access to the 

airport runway, neighboring property and an alternative access 

route to the outside world.  Even if Petitioners had keys for 

each lock and gate, they would be required to exit their 

vehicles, unlock the padlock, manually open the gate, drive 

through the date, again exit the vehicle and close and lock the 

gate.  Moreover, because of their handicaps, Petitioners were 

physically, and in the case of Martinez, also mentally incapable 

of performing such tasks.  Not only did the locked gates deprive 

Petitioners of their specifically granted privilege/rights to 

use the easements, they also improperly and improvidently 
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deprive Petitioners the right to have friends, relatives, 

guests, invitees and emergency services visit their home located 

at the subject property.  Such an obstruction constitutes an 

unreasonable interference with the Petitioners' contractual 

rights to use the easements, whether or not the Petitioners are 

handicapped persons. 

 53.  In this case, Petitioners' made a prima facie case for 

discrimination by showing that they have permanent handicaps; 

that Respondent knew that Petitioners' were handicapped; that 

Petitioners were qualified to live at the subject property with 

or without a reasonable accommodation; and, that Respondent 

failed to reasonably accommodate the Petitioners' handicaps by 

refusing the reasonable request to keep the gates unlocked and 

open. 

 54.  Respondent failed to articulate a legitimate, 

nondiscriminatory reason for his actions.  Respondent's stated 

reason for erecting Gates 2 through 4 and insisting that they 

remain locked was pretextual, since in reality they did not 

meaningfully enhance security or hinder future vandalism or 

theft of airport property. 

 55.  Petitioners have proven that Respondent illegally 

discriminated against them by unreasonably obstructing and 

restricting their ingress and egress to and from their own 

property.  While for non-handicapped persons the physical 
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activity required to pass through Gates 2 through 4 is a 

significant annoyance and inconvenience, for handicapped persons 

it represents a major obstacle, and in the case of Petitioner 

Lugo in particular, a physically painful ordeal.  

 56.  As to Petitioners' claim of retaliation, the 

Petitioners must establish a prima facie case by proving 1) 

Petitioners engaged in a protected activity; 2) Respondent knew 

about the activity; 3) Petitioners were subjected to an adverse 

action within a reasonable amount of time following the 

protected activity; and 4) there is a causal connection between 

the action and the protected activity. 

 57.  Here, Petitioners satisfied the first and second 

prongs necessary to establish a claim of retaliation, but not 

the third and fourth.  The filing by Petitioners of their 

complaint with the Commission was a protected activity, and 

Respondent was aware of the activity, since he was provided with 

a copy of the complaint.  However, Petitioners failed to 

establish that they were subjected to an adverse action, since 

the mere investigation of the complaint (a one-time site visit 

by a D.E.P. employee), which resulted in no enforcement action, 

does not rise to the level of "adverse action."  Moreover, even 

if the complaint to D.E.P. and resulting investigation could be 

considered an adverse action, Petitioners failed to establish 

that there was a causal connection between Haynes' filing of the 
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complaint with D.E.P. and Petitioners' complaint to the 

Commission. 

 58.  Section 760.35(3)(b) authorizes section 120.569 and 

120.57(1) hearings on allegations of discriminatory housing 

practices.  Section 760.35(3)(b) provides that, if the 

administrative law judge finds a discriminatory housing 

practice, he or she shall issue a recommended order "prohibiting 

the practice and recommending affirmative relief from the 

effects of the practice, including quantifiable damages and 

reasonable attorney's fees and costs."  Section 760.35(3)(b) 

further provides that any circuit court with jurisdiction may 

enter judgment on the final order of the Florida Commission on 

Human Relations. 

 59.  Section 760.35(3)(b), Florida Statutes, authorizes the 

Commission to award compensatory damages to the victim of a 

"discriminatory housing practice," but only if the damages are 

quantifiable and their amount has been established by competent 

substantial evidence.  Here, Petitioners are entitled to recover 

the costs they incurred in making ingress/egress #1 passable 

when Respondent erected Gates 3 and 4.  Those costs were: 

$200.00 for tractor work, $560.00 for machine time, and $280.00 

for road shell, for a total of $1,040.00.8/ 

 60.  Petitioners are further entitled to an award of 

$482.90 in compensatory damages for the additional expense 
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associated with the additional 1.2 miles in travel necessitated 

by Respondent's obstruction of ingress/egress #2. 

 61.  As to the award of attorney's fees, Petitioners have 

been represented by Jamison Jessup, accepted by the Division as 

a "qualified representative" pursuant to Florida Administrative 

Code Rule 28-106.107.  Mr. Jessup is a non-attorney 

representative.  Nothing in section 760.35(3) authorizes the 

award of attorneys' fees to non-attorneys.  The Florida Supreme 

Court tells us that: "When the words of a statute are plain and 

unambiguous and convey a definite meaning, courts . . . must 

read the statute as written, for to do otherwise would 

constitute an abrogation of legislative power."  Nicoll v. 

Baker, 668 So. 2d 989, 990-91 (Fla. 1996).  See also Dep’t of 

Ins. v. Fla. Bankers Ass'n, 764 So. 2d 660 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). 

 62.  Petitioners are entitled to an award of the reasonable 

and allowable costs expended in bringing this action.  

Jurisdiction is retained by the Division to determine that 

amount should the parties be unable to reach agreement on the 

appropriate sum. 

RECOMMENDATION 

 Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is  

 RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

enter a final order finding Respondent guilty of a 
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discriminatory housing practice against Petitioners in violation 

of section 760.23(8), and ordering the following affirmative 

relief: 

 1)  Respondent shall immediately remove Gates 2 through 4 

and shall refrain from taking any action that would impede 

Petitioners' travel along ingress/egress #1 and #2; 

 2)  Respondent shall pay Petitioners compensatory damages 

in the amount of $1522.90; 

 3)  Respondent shall pay Petitioners the reasonable and 

allowable costs they incurred in bringing this action. 

DONE AND ENTERED this 28th day of January, 2013, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   

W. DAVID WATKINS 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 
 
Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 28th day of January, 2013. 
 
 

ENDNOTES 
 
1/  "The Gates of Damascus," by James Elroy Flecker. 
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2/  Unless otherwise indicated, all references to the Florida 
Statutes are to the 2012 version. 
 
3/  See Appendix A (Petitioners' Ex. Z-17) which shows the 
location of the subject property, roads referenced in this 
Recommended Order, gate locations 1 through 4, and airstrip 
location. 
 
4/  Gate 1 was an "electronic" gate installed by Petitioners and 
other neighbors who used the Ariel Road ingress/egress.  The 
gate could be opened and closed using either a remote control, 
or by keying in the code on the keypad, neither of which 
required the driver to exit the vehicle. 
 
5/  Shortly after Gate 2 was erected, Petitioner Martinez 
attempted to open the gate for Lugo.  However, she was 
unsuccessful, and those efforts were discontinued. 
 
6/  Haynes testified that theft and vandalism at the airport over 
the past several years totaled in excess of $40,000.  However, 
Respondent did not offer police reports or other evidence to 
substantiate this claim. 
 
7/  Rev. Proc. 2010-51, 2010-51 I.R.B. 883, provides rules for 
computing the deductible costs of operating an automobile for 
business, charitable, medical, or moving expense purposes, and 
for substantiating, under § 274(d) of the Internal Revenue Code  
and § 1.274-5 of the Income Tax Regulations. 
 
8/  Petitioners are not entitled to reimbursement for their 
expenses related to the erection of Gate 1. 
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 
 
All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 
15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 
to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 
will issue the Final Order in this case. 
 
 
 




